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GEM MERCHANDI SI NG CORPORATI ON, a Georgia Corporation; Summt
Medi -Alert, Inc., a Georgia Corporation; Starcrest Services, Inc.,
a Georgia Corporation; WIlie E. Lennon, individually; Chantal
Azanga, individually, Defendants,

Al exander S. Estfan, individually and as an officer and director
of one or nore of the above corporations, Defendant-Appellant.

July 9, 1996.
Appeal from the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Georgia. (No. 1:94-CV-1307-CET), G Ernest Tidwell,
Chi ef Judge.
Bef ore KRAVI TCH, EDMONDSON and BARKETT, Circuit Judges.

KRAVI TCH, Circuit Judge:

Al exander Estfan appeal s an order by the district court issued
pursuant to section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Conm ssion Act, 15
US C § 53(b). After finding that Estfan engaged in unfair
practices in telemarketing nedical alert devices, the court held
that the defendants bel ow nust reinburse consuners in an anount
totalling $487,500 and, to the extent repaynent is not feasible,
must pay the remainder to the United States Treasury. Estfan
argues that the district court |acked the authority to order
paynent to any party other than purchasers of the nedical alert
devices. W affirm

Gem Merchandi sing Corporation was quite successful in its



busi ness of telemarketing nedical alert systems. Unfortunately,
much of its success could be attributed to its illega

tel emarketing nethods. As found by the district court, Gem|l ured
custoners by 1) msrepresenting the value of prizes a consuner
would receive if the consumer purchased certain products, 2)
m srepresenting the likelihood that a consunmer would receive a
particul ar prize, 3) msrepresenting the likelihood that a consuner
woul d not receive a particular prize, and 4) failing to disclose
the costs a consunmer would have to pay and the conditions a
consunmer woul d have to satisfy to obtain the prize of a vacation

Al fred Estfan was the sol e owner, president, and director of
Gem Mer chandi sing. The district court found that he controlled the
day-to-day affairs of Gem and knew about Gems telemarketing
practices. He was aware that salespeople nmde nmateria
m srepresentations to consuners to induce sales, and he was in a
position to control the sal espeople's behavi or.

The Federal Trade Commi ssion ("FTC') brought this action
agai nst Gem Merchandi si ng, Estfan, and four other defendants, for
engaging in "unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting
commerce," in violation of section 5 of the FTC Act. 15 U. S.C A
8§ 45(a). In its sunmmary judgnent notion, the FTC sought a
permanent injunction preventing defendants from engaging in
tel emarketing, a judgnment hol di ng defendants jointly and severally
Iiable for consunmer redress, and an order that woul d enabl e the FTC
to noni tor defendants' future business activities. The court found
that the defendants violated section 5 and granted plaintiff's

notion for permanent injunction. It denied sunmary judgnment on the



other two clainms which were set down for a non-jury trial before
t he court.

At the trial, the court held that the FTC had established
defendants' liability for "consuner redress"” by show ng that 1)
def endants engaged i n deceptive acts in violation of section 5, 2)
t he deceptive acts were widely dissem nated, and 3) the consuners
purchased defendants' products. The court set the anmount to be
paid by defendants at $487,500.' Further, because each defendant
repeatedly participated in the wongful acts and each defendant's
acts materially contributed to the | osses suffered, all defendants
were held jointly and severally liable. The court ordered that the
funds be distributed to consuners to the extent such distribution
was feasible and that any excess be deposited in the United States
Treasury. ?

.

On appeal, Estfan nmakes three clains. First, he argues that
the court's authority under section 13(b) was limted to redressing
the | osses of defrauded consuners and that the court |acked the
power to order paynent to the United States Treasury. Second, he
clainms that because the court ordered "consuner redress,"” the FTC
cannot deposit funds collected pursuant to that judgnent into the
United States Treasury because such a paynent woul d not constitute

redress. Third, Estfan contends that his liability is limted to

This figure is based on the court's conclusion that $100
shoul d be paid to 5,000 consuners. The court credited defendants
with $12,500, which had been paid to the State of Georgia.

*The court denied the FTC s request for an order allowing it
to nonitor defendants' future business activities.



"consuner redress," because the "penalty" of disgorgenent requires
proof of individual liability, not sinply "corporate liability."
A

Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Comm ssion Act authorizes
the FTC to seek, and the district courts to grant, prelimnary and
per manent injunctions against practices that violate any of the
| aws enforced by the Conmission.® Although section 13(b) does not
expressly authorize courts to grant nonetary equitable relief, the
FTC argues that the unqualified grant of statutory authority to
i ssue an injunction under section 13(b) carries with it the ful
range of equitable renedies, including the power to grant consuner
redress and conpel disgorgenent of profits. W agree with the FTC.

In FTCv. Ol & Gas Corp., this court held that under section

13(b) a district court nmay exercise its inherent equitable power.

®Section 13(b) provides, in relevant part:
VWhenever the Conmi ssion has reason to believe—

(1) that any person, partnership, or corporation
is violating, or is about to violate, any

provi sion of |aw enforced by the Federal Trade
Conmi ssi on, and

(2) that the enjoining thereof ... would be in the
interest of the public—

the Conmssion ... may bring suit in a district court
of the United States to enjoin any such act or
practice. Upon a proper show ng that, weighing the
equities and considering the Comm ssion's |ikelihood of
ulti mate success, such action would be in the public
interest ... a tenporary restraining order or a
prelimnary injunction may be granted w t hout bond:
Provi ded, further, That in proper cases the
Comm ssion may seek, and after proper proof, the court
may i ssue, a pernmanent injunction...

15 U.S.C. § 53(b).



FTC v. US Gl & Gs Corp., 748 F.2d 1431, 1433-34 (1l1th
Cir.1984); see also FTCv. Any Travel Service, Inc., 875 F. 2d 564,
571-72 (7th Gr.) (in a proceeding under section 13(b), district
court has the "power to order any ancillary equitable relief
necessary to effectuate” its grant of authority), cert. denied, 493
US 954, 110 S. . 366, 107 L.Ed.2d 352 (1989); FTC v. HN.
Singer, Inc., 668 F.2d 1107, 1112-13 (9th Cr.1982) (power to grant
permanent injunctive relief carries wthit authority for ancillary
equitable relief); FTCv. Southwest Sunsites, Inc., 665 F.2d 711,
717-19 (5th Cir.) (section 13(b) permts court to exercise ful
range of traditional equitable renedies), cert. denied, 456 U. S.
973, 102 S.Ct. 2236, 72 L.Ed.2d 846 (1982). Specifically, we held
that a district court may order prelimnary relief, including an
asset freeze, that may be needed to nake pernmanent relief possible.
In reaching this conclusion, we relied on the principles of
statutory construction articulated in Porter v. Warner Hol di ng Co.,
328 U.S. 395 66 S.Ct. 1086, 90 L.Ed. 1332 (1946).

In Porter, the Suprene Court upheld the district court's
authority to refund illegal rent overcharges pursuant to section
205(a) of the Emergency Price Control Act of 1942, which expressly
granted only the power to enjoin illegal practices. In so holding,
the Court wote that

[u]lnl ess otherwise provided by statute, all the inherent

equi tabl e powers of the District Court are available for the

proper and conpl ete exercise of that jurisdiction. And since
the public interest is involved in a proceeding of this
nat ure, those equitabl e powers assune an even broader and nore
fl exi bl e character than when only a private controversy is at
stake. Power is thereby resident in the District Court, in
exercising this jurisdiction, "to do equity and to noul d each

decree to the necessities of the particular case.” Hecht Co.
v. Bowes, 321 U S [321], 329[, 64 S.Ct. 587, 591, 88 L.Ed.



754 1994]. ...

Moreover, the conprehensiveness of this equitable
jurisdictionis not to be denied or limted in the absence of

a clear and valid | egislative conmand. Unless a statute in so

many words, or by a necessary and inescapable inference,

restricts the court's jurisdiction in equity, the full scope
of that jurisdiction is to be recognized and appli ed.
Porter, 328 U S. at 397-98, 66 S.C. at 1088-89 (citations
om tted).

As Porter nmakes plain, absent a clear command to the contrary,
the district court's equitable powers are extensive. Anpbng the
equi tabl e powers of a court is the power to grant restitution and
di sgor genent . See, e.g., FTC v. Security Rare Coin & Bullion
Corp., 931 F.2d 1312, 1316 (8th Cir.1991) (restitution); Any
Travel Services, 875 F.2d at 570 (restitution); SECv. Blatt, 583
F.2d 1325, 1335 (5th Cir.1978) (disgorgenent).*

Estfan contends that the district courts nay not exercise

their full range of equitable powers under section 13(b). He
relies alnost exclusively on FTC v. Figgie Int'l, Inc., 994 F. 2d
595 (9th Gir.1993), cert. denied, --- US ----, 114 S.C. 1051

127 L. Ed. 2d 373 (1994), to argue that the district court |acked the

authority to order payment to the U S. Treasury. °

In Figgie,
pursuant to section 19 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57b(b), the

district court had ordered the defendant to of fer refunds for heat

“The El eventh CGircuit, in Bonner v. City of Prichard, 661
F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cr.1981) (en banc), adopted as precedent
decisions of the former Fifth Grcuit rendered prior to Cctober
1, 1981.

°I'n light of the many cases that address the issue of
equi tabl e renedi es under section 13(b), curiously, appellant
clainms he was able to find only one case relevant to this issue,
i.e., FTCv. Figgie Int'l, Inc.



detectors that had been sold through deceptive neans. The court
al so ordered that in the event refunds did not reach a certain
amount, the difference was to be given to nonprofit organi zations
concerned with fire safety. The circuit court held that this
latter requirenment was not within the district court's power under
section 19.

Assumi ng, arguendo, that we agree with the Ninth Grcuit's
interpretation of section 19(b), that statute is distinguishable
from section 13(b) because it explicitly prohibits "exenplary or
punitive damages.” 15 U.S.C. 8 57b(b). This legislative command
expressly limts a court's equitable jurisdiction. See Porter, 328
US at 398, 66 S.C. at 1089. In contrast, section 13(b) has no
such limtation. Thus, the Ninth Crcuit was consistent when, a
year after the decision in Figgie, it stated that in a suit under
section 13(b) a court may order disgorgenent of a defendant's
"unj ust enrichnent” when it is not possible to reinburse all of the
consuners who have been i njured by t he def endant ' s
m srepresentations. FTCv. Pantron | Corp., 33 F.3d 1088, 1103 n.
34 (1994), cert. denied, --- U S ----, 115 S. C. 1794, 131 L.Ed.2d
722 (1995). Thus, Estfan's reliance on Figgie is m splaced.

As in Porter, the court's authority to exercise full equitable
powers is especially appropriate in a case |ike the one at bar
Section 13(b) plays an inportant role in enabling the FTC to
enforce consuner protection |laws. Accordingly, disgorgenent, the
pur pose of which "is not to conpensate the victins of fraud, but to
deprive the wongdoer of hisill-gotten gain," is appropriate. SEC

v. Blatt, 583 F.2d at 1335; see, e.g., SECv. First Gty Financial



Corp., 890 F.2d 1215, 1230 (D.C. Cir.1989) (permtting di sgorgenent
and observing that "[d]isgorgenment is an equitable renmedy designed
to deprive a wongdoer of his unjust enrichnment and to deter others
fromviolating the securities laws"); CFTCv. Co. Petro Marketing
G oup, Inc., 680 F.2d 573, 583-84 (9th Cir.1982) (permtting
di sgorgenent and recognizing its deterrent effect). W conclude
that section 13(b) permits a district court to order a defendant to
di sgorge illegally obtained funds. To hold otherw se would perm t
a defendant to retain such funds sinply by keeping poor records.
Such a result would permt unjust enrichnment and underm ne the
deterrence function of Section 13(b).

Further, because it is not always possible to distribute the
nmoney to the victins of defendant's w ongdoing, a court may order
the funds paid to the United States Treasury. See, e.g., SEC v.
Bl avin, 760 F.2d 706, 713 (6th Cir.1985) (funds remaining after al
cl aims have been satisfied shall revert to the U S. Treasury).

B.

Estfan next argues that even if the district court had the
authority to order that unclained funds be given to the U S.
Treasury, this is not what it ordered. Estfan contends that the
district court's order requiring consuner redress limts his
liability to paying each customer $100. In its order, however
despite its use of the term"consuner redress,” the district court
explicitly required that all unclained noney be paid to the U S.
Treasury. The court's order was clear.

C.

Estfan's final argunent is that disgorgenent is not an



appropriate renmedy in this case because he was not found
individually liable. Instead, he clainms, he was found |iable on
the basis of corporate acts with which he was involved and that
under corporate liability only consuner redress wuld be
per m ssi bl e.

Estfan m sunderstands the basis of his liability. He is
individually Iiable. The fact that the actions for which he was
responsi bl e were perforned by Gem Mer chandi si ng does not | essen his
individual liability. Once the FTC has established corporate
liability, "the FTC nust show that the individual defendants
participated directly in the practices or acts or had authority to
control them... The FTC nust then denonstrate that the individual
had sone know edge of the practices.” Any Travel Service, Inc.
875 F.2d 564, 573. Having found that Estfan had direct contro
over the activities of Gem Merchandi sing, and that he was aware of
the illegal practices, the court properly held Estfan individually
l'i abl e.

The decision of the district court is AFFI RVED



